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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA PANAMA CITY DIVISION  

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  

  

  

  

v.                Case No. 5:20cr28-MW/MJF  

  

MARGO DEAL ANDERSON &        

JAMES DAVID FINCH,  

  

Defendants.  

                                                            /  

  

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO  

DEFENDANTS’ REQUESTS FOR ALTERNATIVE RELIEF  

  

 At the conclusion of the December 13, 2022, evidentiary hearing, the 

Court directed Defendants to file supplemental briefs stating what, if 

any, remedies short of dismissal they were seeking. On December 23, 

2022, Defendants filed their papers. ECF 418, 419.   

 Defendant Finch asks the Court to: (1) dismiss all counts against him, 

(2) exclude the testimony of four witnesses, (3) preclude use of the 

statement of facts that Commissioner Antonius Barnes signed as part of 

his guilty plea; (4) instruct the trial jury about the defense view of pretrial 

litigation; and (5) order the government to make electronic copies of 
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everything seized from GAC for the defense. Defendant Anderson asks 

the Court to exclude unfavorable evidence.   

  In general, remedies of the sort Defendants are seeking are  

supposed to be tailored to an infraction. See, e.g., United States v. 

EucedaHernandez, 768 F.2d 1307, 1312 (11th Cir. 1985); see also Fed. R. 

Crim  

P. 16(d)(2) (authorizing orders that are “just under the circumstances”). 

But just as the focus of the defense presentations at the recent 

evidentiary hearing had little to do with a discovery dispute or a claim of 

vindictive prosecution, the requests for alternative relief here have little 

to do with misconduct repeatedly alleged but not proven. Rather, like the 

hearing, the requests seem designed to use this opportunity to gain 

unrelated advantage at trial, this time through the unwarranted 

exclusion of relevant, admissible, and inculpatory evidence.   

 There is simply no basis in fact or law for these requests. Accordingly, 

the Court should deny all of them and the case should  

proceed to trial.   

DISCUSSION  

  At the outset, many of the assertions and contentions in both  
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Defendants’ papers are just not accurate. Addressing all of them here 

would take longer than the time afforded to the government to respond. 

Therefore, this paper attempts to address the ones that appear to be most 

useful to the Court’s resolution of the motion and requests for alternate 

relief. But that is not a concession regarding the other inaccuracies or 

distortions. The government respectfully relies on earlier filings for that.   

I  

 Defendant Finch says he is entitled to dismissal of Count 1 of the third 

superseding indictment (conspiracy). He claims Count 1 is impermissibly 

duplicitous because it uses the term “including” in relation to Defendant 

Finch’s City business, and the government is disregarding Court orders. 

ECF 419 at 4. Not so. Rather, Defendant Finch’s argument is contrary to 

the law of the circuit.  

 In United States v. Roberson, 998 F.3d 1237 (11th Cir. 2021), cert. denied, 

142 S. Ct. 1109 (2022), the Eleventh Circuit considered whether jury 

instructions on the retainer theory of bribery under §666 constructively 

amended an indictment. The indictment had references to official action 

favorable to a law firm and a company’s “interest in matters,” and 

payments in exchange for, “among other things, favorable action in 
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relation to the . . . issues [in the local area].” Id. at 1255 n.23 (emphasis 

added).   

 Based on that, the district court instructed the jury that the defendants 

could be found guilty if they “gave a thing of value to the [entity] with the 

intent to retain the services of [the entity’s head] on an as-needed basis 

so that [the entity’s head] would take actions as specific opportunities 

arose in his role as an agent of the [state government].” Id. at 1255. The 

Eleventh Circuit said “the language in the indictment provided sufficient 

notice to [the defendants] that the government was pursuing a retainer 

theory of liability” and the jury instruction “does not broaden the possible 

basis of conviction beyond what was alleged in the indictment, but simply 

clarifies the law.” Id.   

 Like Roberson, the challenged allegations give Defendants sufficient 

notice that the government is pursuing a retainer theory of liability 

(which Roberson reaffirmed) and do not make the conspiracy charge 

duplicitous.1 The challenged allegations show that the  

 
1 As noted in the government’s response to motions to dismiss, Defendant Anderson’s 

duplicity argument is different. Her argument, as somewhat restated in recent reply, 

is that “a conspirator without knowledge of any other spokes and without knowledge 

of a broader conspiratorial agreement beyond themselves cannot be said to have 

joined the broader conspiratorial agreement.” ECF 412 at 3. Here the third 

superseding indictment alleges that Defendants “knowingly and willfully”  
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government properly alleged the retainer theory that Roberson 

reaffirmed and upon which this Court should instruct the trial jury. 

Defendant Finch’s repeated references to the second superseding 

indictment, and the Court’s determination of duplicity regarding count 1 

of that charging document, are inapplicable and stale.  The Court found 

that charge duplicitous in prior versions of the indictments because it 

contained factual allegations concerning multiple schemes (some which 

it found were separate) and a non-exhaustive list of charged schemes. The 

same cannot be said about Count 1 of the third superseding  

indictment. It is not duplicitous.   

  

  
conspired “together and with others” to commit offenses under §§666(a)(1)(B) and 

666(a)(2), and the manner and means of the conspiracy included payments to 

Commissioner Barnes. ECF 355 ¶¶9 & 12. Defendant Anderson’s unsupported 

assertion that she did not know of payments to Commissioner Barnes does not make 

Count 1 of the third superseding indictment duplicitous.  Compare with United States 

v. Chandler, 376 F.3d 1303, 1317 (11th Cir. 2004) (explaining that “[t]here are no 

allegations in the indictment that any of these defendants knew of [the hub’s] plan to 

steal the game stamps and distribute them to a vast array of recruiters and winners. 

There are none because [the hub] deliberately set out to keep the fact that there was 

any overall scheme secret from the defendants.” (second and third emphasis added)). 

Here the third superseding indictment materially differs from Chandler, which did 

not concern the facial validity of the indictment.  If Defendants wish to testify that 

Defendant Anderson knew nothing about bribes to Barnes, they have that right, and 

the jury may choose to disbelieve them. See United States v. Brown, 53 F.3d 312, 314 
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(11th Cir. 1995) (“When a defendant testifies in his own defense, he runs the risk that 

if disbelieved the jury might conclude the opposite of his testimony is true.”).   

II  

 Defendant Finch asks the Court to exclude the testimony of the retired 

former case agent. ECF 419 at 18. Apparently, the defense hopes to 

exclude that testimony and then spend the duration of the trial attacking 

that agent and the investigation, with the Court’s assistance (see Section 

VII below), and without rebuttal.   

 Defendants’ remedy, if any, is to cross examine the former case agent or 

call him in their case-in-chief if they wish to present testimony relevant 

to the charges. Or they can present other evidence. There is no basis for 

the Court to exclude the former case agent’s testimony.  

III  

  Defendant Finch asks the Court to exclude the testimony of Lynn  

Haven Police Chief Ricky Ramie, apparently for two reasons. First, 

Defendant Finch asserts (without support) that Chief Ramie “sat on 

critical evidence that was gathered at Margo Anderson’s instruction for 

several days before turning it over to Stanford.” ECF 419 at 14. The 

government does not believe that is accurate; Defendants have not proven 

otherwise. Even if it were, it is not a basis to exclude the Police  
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Chief’s testimony.   

 Second, Defendant Finch says Chief Ramie’s “close relationship” with 

former Lynn Haven City Manager Michael White “was also buried within 

31,000 pages of Michael White’s phone records demonstrating shocking 

misconduct and bias.” ECF 419 at 14. The government produced the 

entire cell phone extraction to the defense in a searchable format— the 

same one the government used when analyzing it. It did not “bury” 

anything. The format obviously allowed Defendants to make use of it. The 

Court has already observed that the material cited is not relevant and 

probably could not be used at trial even for impeachment.   

  Neither of these things is a basis to exclude Chief Ramie’s  

testimony.2   

 
2 Defendant Finch names BCSO Major Stanford as a “bad actor.” Over a year ago, 

Defendant Finch claimed to have “direct evidence” that Major Stanford leaked the 

imminent search of ECS to Derwin White and has since failed to substantiate that 

accusation. As previously noted, Defendants requests for alternative relief are not 

tailored to any legitimate complaint they have. They have no request specifically 

related to Major Stanford.   
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IV  

 Defendant Finch asks the Court to exclude the testimony of former City 

Manager Michael White and current City Manager Vickie Gainer.  

  
Defendant Finch’s filing identifies no basis whatsoever for the exclusion 

of their testimony.3 The Court should not.   

V  

 Defendant Finch asks the Court to exclude former Commissioner 

Antonius Barnes’ statement of facts, from his guilty plea, including for 

impeachment purposes. ECF 419 at 19. It appears that Defendant Finch’s 

real goal is to exclude Commissioner Barnes’ admissions that he sought 

and received $45,000 from Defendant Finch with the intent to be 

influenced in the performance of official acts and understood that he was 

expected, because of these payments, to support Defendant Finch’s  

 
3 Defendant Finch makes reference to Ms. Gainer’s notes, some of which she relied on 

at the recent hearing (where she gave testimony irrelevant to the pending motion) 

and asserts that the government not providing them is a violation of a discovery order. 

ECF 419 at 15. It is not. Ms. Gainer’s notes are discoverable under the Jencks Act 

after she testifies for the government at trial, just as witness statements that 

Defendant Finch possesses, which he has not disclosed, are discoverable after his 

witness testifies at trial. See 18 U.S.C. §3500.   
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projects.   

  The government put those questions to Commissioner Barnes  

(twice) before presenting him with the statement of facts, which he signed 

and stated under oath that he reviewed with his lawyer. At the recent  

  
hearing, the Court confirmed that Commissioner Barnes’ plea was not 

coerced. 5:21cr31-MW/MJF, ECF 33 at 16 (N.D. Fla. Dec. 22, 2022).  

There is no misconduct. There is no basis to preclude otherwise 

permissible uses of the statement of facts at trial.   

VI  

 Defendant Finch asks the Court to require the government to 

electronically produce all material seized from GAC in an electronically 

searchable format no later than 6 weeks prior to trial, and to specifically 

identify all Brady material within the GAC production. The government 

objects with the following observations.   

 First, all the hard copy GAC material has been available for defense 

counsel to review since at least September 2022. They have chosen not to 

inspect or copy it. Instead, they filed two motions to compel misstating 
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and/or omitting material facts,4 and then sought an evidentiary hearing 

on the issue at which they presented no evidence and minimal argument  

  
on the subject. See generally ECF 406, 407. As the Court observed at the 

hearing, under binding legal precedent, the government is not obligated 

to make the defense copies of discovery material—especially not in a case 

where the Defendants are not indigent.   

 Second, the government has already electronically produced some 

material from the hard copy documents even though it does not appear 

to be relevant. Derwin White’s widow requested documents seized from 

his office for purposes of estate litigation (to which Defendant Finch is a 

party due to his extensive business relationship with Derwin White) 

which lasted until long after the charges in this case.5 The government 

 
4 For example, Defendants asserted that the GAC search warrant affidavit contained 

undisclosed Brady material. As set out in the responses, the documentary evidence 

underlying it was disclosed in September 2020. Witness reports described therein 

were disclosed in February 2022. The government’s view, which it explained in its 

responses and at the hearing, is that this is not Brady material. But if it were, defense 

counsel already had such material and cannot properly claim it was suppressed.  

  
5  The FBI case agent conducted a more detailed inventory keeping an eye about 

anything related to Defendant Finch. Some documents appear to be related to these 

business deals, including Defendant Finch making a $700,000 investment with 

Derwin White in late 2020, after Defendant Anderson was charged, and more than a 

year after Defendants say they had an angry confrontation with Derwin White about 

the ECS fraud. It thus seems that Defendant Finch was also a leader of the “team of 
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scanned and produced them to Derwin White’s widow’s attorneys early 

last year. The government separately produced them to Defendant Finch 

in this case since the documents had already been scanned, even though 

they do not appear to be relevant to this case.   

  
 During an earlier review of the GAC material, the FBI noticed that 

Derwin White hired a private investigator. The government subpoenaed 

the private investigator for records. The records do not appear to be 

relevant to the case; rather, they appear to concern GAC investigating 

car wrecks involving its employees and the like. But, when the 

government learned that Defendant Finch believed that Derwin White 

hired an investigator to follow and film Defendants, the government 

electronically produced that information and interviewed the 

investigator, who stated that Derwin White did not hire him for that 

purpose.   

 Additionally, the government previously disclosed to the defense that 

Derwin White and GAC performed work at Commissioner Barnes’ 

 
bandits” until the other bandit leader died and became a convenient, distracting 

scapegoat. The FBI is scanning those documents and they will be produced 

electronically even though they are not directly relevant to the case; they merely 

show, as other lots of other evidence does, Defendant Finch’s knowing and willing 

association with what he describes as banditry.   
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residence. The government located documents that appear to relate to 

that work and electronically produced that material to the defense.   

 The FBI has been steadily processing electronic material from GAC, such 

as numerous thumb drives, computers, and servers. A review of the 

thumb drives has so far disclosed nothing of evidentiary significance with 

two observations. One thumb drive had videos and pictures of  

Defendants getting on/off the plane and entering the casino. Metadata 

indicates these files are copies of files that the government already 

produced to Defendants in April 2021 (which Defendant Finch had 

disseminated to Derwin White in May 2021; these files were created on 

the thumb drive in May 2021). A few documents were marked as  

attorney-client privileged, so a taint/filter review is currently underway. 

FBI technicians are working on the computers and servers, and the 

government will produce any material that has a conceivable connection 

to the case once available.   

 At the recent hearing, the Court correctly apprehended that the 

government is not obligated to separately identify Brady material. That 

is particularly appropriate where, as here, defense counsel do not wish to 
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say why anything might be favorable to them,6 leaving the government 

to guess, and for the defense to later make unintelligible arguments that 

certain material is favorable when a development in the case presents an 

opportunity to attack the opposition.7 The government does not wish to  

  
categorize material based on its understanding of defense counsel’s 

definitional argle-bargle and later be blamed that it “buried”8 favorable 

material because it did not apprehend what nonintuitive theories would 

come from the defense next.   

 In short, the government is doing all that is required regarding the GAC 

material and more. There is no basis in fact or law to require the 

government to do more than it is already doing.  

 
6 E.g., ECF 407 at 117.  

  
7 See, e.g., ECF 407 at 98 (defense counsel stating “[m]y theory has always been  . . . 

that Derwin White was the one managing the fraud”). The government does not 

understand defense counsel’s apparently always-extant theory, which defense did not 

disclose to the government until after Derwin White’s death. Indeed, if defense 

counsel’s theory has always been that Derwin White was “managing the fraud,” why 

was Defendant Finch working with Derwin White and giving him sensitive discovery  
8 See, e.g., ECF 419 at 14 (Defendant Finch making this sort of accusation).  
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VII  

 Defendant Finch asks the Court for “[m]ultiple instructions from the 

Court explaining in part the Court’s findings of recklessness, 

unprofessionalism, haphazardness, and sanctions” and to inform the trial  

  
material until the time of the latter’s death?   

  
 ECS was defrauding the City by not performing work it claimed to have performed 

and, to some degree, performing work at the residences of public officials. The GAC 

search warrant affidavit details how GAC was doing something similar in relation to 

other local governments. Derwin White sought debris disposal business from the City 

but almost immediately got pushed out through Defendant Anderson’s efforts to route 

that debris to Defendant Finch. Derwin White sought and obtained disposal from 

another local government. Defendants say, and some hearsay accounts support, that 

he asked Defendants not to report ECS to the sheriff in March 2019.   

  
 The government does not understand how Derwin White’s apparent criminal 

activities in relation to local governments other than the City are relevant to whether 

$45,000 in checks to Commissioner Barnes and a Motorhome to the Andersons were 

bribes. For their part, Defendants have never articulated any coherent theory.   

  

jury that “we are on the Third Superseding Indictment, in part due to the 

government’s reckless investigation and false and misleading 

information that was presented to secure the Indictment, Superseding 

Indictment, and Second Superseding Indictment.” ECF 419 at 19. There 

is no basis for such relief. Defendant Finch cites none.    

  The government respects the Court’s prior order, ECF 294, but  

offers several additional points for its consideration.   
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 First, Defendant Finch references the former case agent’s testimony 

about the municipal rebuild process; whether FEMA would reimburse for 

a “design build” process. ECF 419 at 5. With regard to the former case 

agent’s testimony, the Court said to “the extent it was even intelligible, 

it appears to be false” and the government ‘knew or should have known 

it was false.” ECF 312 at 22. The government, however, points to the 

following witness interview report, which the former case agent relied on 

for his testimony:  

FEMA would not allow the design build process if the city 

wanted the project to be reimbursed by FEMA. FEMA’s 

process is to obtain damage reports, then do site inspections, 

take pictures and then come up with a build back price for the 

project. The amount FEMA would pay on the project would be 

FEMA’s share of the build back amount less any insurance 

proceeds the city received for the project. By doing the projects 

FEMA’s way, if the city choose to build back a project at a cost 

less than the amount of the FEMA reimbursement, the city 

could keep the FEMA money and put it to another one of their 

FEMA projects. The city began having workshops to discuss 

how they wanted to build back the city.  

  

Finch wanted the city to do everything design build. Finch 

wanted to use the city’s insurance money and get things 

started. [The witness] advised [City officials] to be careful 

with Finch. If the city did not follow FEMA’s rules and the 

city lost the FEMA money, it would be unfair to the taxpayers.  

  

DX 48 at 3 (from prior hearing); DX 44 at 3 (from recent hearing). 

Whether FEMA can, as a theoretical matter, reimburse a design build 
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project is one thing. But the former case agent testified based on what 

witnesses (this one and others repeating the same or similar at a city 

commission meeting) said FEMA told them it would do under the 

circumstances, which the defense has not contradicted. The government 

respectfully suggests that there is no basis for a determination that the 

government presented testimony about this that it “knew or should have 

known was false.”  

 Second, at earlier grand juries, the former case agent presented a 

timeline regarding Commissioner Barnes and payments from Defendant 

Finch. The timeline indicated that the City Commission approved a 

change order for the 17th Street project and Defendant Finch’s purchase 

of some City property (later used for hurricane debris disposal) on 

February 28, 2017. It also indicates that Defendant Finch gave 

Commissioner Barnes a check for $2,500 on March 15, 2017. In between 

those dates, it repeats those two items of Commission action from  

February 28 as occurring on March 14, 2017. See DX 12 at 4 (from March  

2022 hearing). Defendant Finch contends that the timeline was 

“manufactured so that the jurors would believe that a check was written 



Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 421   Filed 01/03/23   Page 17 of 33 

17  

  

to Barnes immediately after Barnes voted in favor of Finch.” ECF 274 

at 47.  

 The former case agent admittedly made a mistake by repeating the 

February 28 action as also occurring again on March 14. He reviewed the 

agenda for the March 14, 2017, Commission meeting, where the minutes 

of the February 28 meeting were attached and show the minutes were 

signed on March 14, 2017, and annotated the February 28 action again 

with an incorrect date of March 14 on the timeline. The indictment had 

the correct date for the actions. The timeline did not have the correction 

to remove the duplication. This error in the timeline was inadvertent.9   

  Finally, the Court’s prior order indicated that the “government  

  
readily admits that the grand jury heard false testimony suggesting that 

the city did not have employees’ houses cleared—as Anderson’s was.” 

ECF 294 at 37. Respectfully, that is not quite accurate.   

  Defendant Finch stated in a November 4, 2021, letter the following:  

Its common knowledge throughout the City that the City 

Manager had the property of every City employee cleaned up 

 
9 Indeed, the Court’s order reflected a similar error, stating that “the payment and 

the action were actually roughly a month apart,” as the distance between February 

28 and March 14 is only 14 days. ECF 312 at 37.  
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after the hurricane at no charge. This includes all of the 

policemen. Yet part of the indictment against Margo is that 

she had her property cleaned up without paying for it.  

  

 The former case agent testified at the November 16, 2021, grand jury 

that this was not accurate and “[w]hat the city manager did do, however, 

though, was because his police officers were having to work long shifts 

every day with no day off and so forth and all their properties were 

damaged and so forth, he did get some of the city employees, the building 

department guys, to run by their houses and throw tarps on their roofs 

so their belongings would not be destroyed.” DX 7 at 142-143 (from first 

hearing).   

 As indicated in report of December 11, 2019, interview, Michael White 

told the FBI that he sent a city official to “all the city employees houses 

to have the employees’ roofs tarped and assist with whatever else they 

could assist with.” DX 28 at 13 (from first hearing). As indicated in the 

report of December 12, 2019, interview, Michael White told the FBI that 

he sent ECS employees to some police officers’ homes because they were 

having to work long hours and needed assistance with their personal 

residences. DX 24 at 4 (from first hearing). Accordingly, because it 

appeared that former case agent may not have correctly described what 
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the former city manager told him two years before the testimony, the 

government conceded that the former case agent’s testimony on this 

immaterial point was not accurate.   

 In the meantime, the government has attempted to get to the bottom of 

this. Another City employee told the government that he was responsible 

for taking employees from the City's building department to the homes of 

City employees to help clean up hurricane debris and put tarps on their 

homes and that work was only emergency related and did not send ECS 

to personal residences. Another witness recently told the government 

that numerous firefighters and law enforcement officers had the roofs to 

their homes tarped, at the direction of the City Manager, because the 

witness had been told that the City of Lynn Haven was responsible for 

getting their employees access to their homes and to make certain that 

the employees of the city of Lynn Haven were able to get to work. That 

witness said that the work performed at Mayor Anderson’s house was 

“way more extensive” than the work ECS employees did on other persons’ 

residences as there was much more debris and due to the fact that Mayor 

Anderson’s yard was really three properties which were combined in to 
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one. But former City Manager Michael White recently testified that he 

“sent some of the employees from the City around to the  

City employees’ homes to try to get them ready where I could have the 

City employees there at the City to work” and denied that he sent ECS 

to police officers’ homes. ECF 406 at 92. It thus appears that there is some 

discrepancy amongst witnesses about who performed the work, where it 

was performed, and the scope of work performed.  

 Accordingly, the defense’s remedy regarding inadvertent errors of this 

sort would be to cross examine witnesses or present other evidence.  

There is no basis for the relief sought.10    

  
VIII  

 Defendant Anderson joined Defendant Finch’s September 2022 motion 

regarding GAC and other complaints but did not join the amended 

 
10 The government does not make excuses for the question asked by the prosecutor 

before earlier grand juries at DX 7 at 140, ECF 294 at 35. It should not have been 

asked. It was not asked at the new Tallahassee grand jury on October 18, 2022. But 

if bad questions by lawyers outside of trial are admissible at trial, the government 

can easily present a list of improper questions by the other side from the two 

evidentiary hearings. See, e.g., ECF 406 at 129-130. So, for example, the government 

does not believe it is necessary or appropriate for the Court to tell the trial jury that 

the Court felt it necessary to step in under Rule 614 to prevent defense counsel from 

insinuating in a public proceeding that the Police Chief was trafficking in child 

pornography, and later to correct any lingering misperception caused by that line of 

questioning. ECF 406 at 130, 138-139. None of that helps the jury decide the  
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motion, raising a vindictive prosecution claim, until the December 

hearing. At the hearing, she made no argument about GAC discovery or 

vindictive prosecution. Instead, she presented evidence and argument 

regarding earlier grand jury presentations.    

 Defendant Anderson wants the Court to exclude evidence about ECS 

work performed at the three Anderson properties.11 ECF 418 at 6. Part of 

her argument appears to rest on a misapprehension of the charges: 

Defendant Anderson says “[f]or purposes of the charged section 

666(a)(1)(A) offense, the value of the work must have exceeded, and is 

alleged to have exceeded, $5,000.” ECF 418 at 4. The work that ECS 

performed at the Anderson properties is not charged in the third 

superseding indictment;12 rather, it is her acceptance of the motor home  

  
question of guilt or innocence of the Defendants on the charges in the third 

superseding indictment.   

  

 
11 The government uses this term as shorthand to refer to Defendant Anderson’s 

home with her spouse, her mother’s house next door, and what is apparently her 

cousin’s house next to that.   

  
12 This is in part due to the Court’s earlier order severing those charges from 

the instant ones due to Defendant Finch’s assertions that he has had nothing to do  
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that makes up the gravamen of all but Count 2. Defendant Anderson’s 

evidence does not, therefore, “call[] into question the . . . very 

underpinnings of the charged offenses.” ECF 418 at 5.   

  Defendant Anderson points to several videos of the Anderson  

properties purportedly taken shortly after the hurricane and specifically 

says the Court should “exclude the Government from presenting evidence 

and argument of the alleged City-paid-for work performed on Anderson’s 

property, her mother’s property, and a third property attributed to  

Anderson by the Government.” ECF 418 at 6. It appears that Defendant  

Anderson seeks the same relief here as she previously sought in limine. 

See ECF 344.  

 No legal principle holds that because a defendant claims to have and 

(later) presents purportedly favorable evidence,13 the Court should  

  

 
13 Like the pictures defense counsel showed the government in January 2021, which 

Defendant Anderson’s attorneys did not permit the government to keep or copy at 

that time in violation of Rule 16(b), local rule, and Court order, Defendant Anderson’s 

reference to the videos demonstrates another of her violations of the discovery rules. 

By local rule and Court order, Defendant Anderson’s Rule 16(b) discovery was due 

within seven days of the government’s September 2020 request for reciprocal 

discovery. See ECF 29 at 3 (referencing N.D. Loc. R. 26.2(C)(1)-(3) for deadlines). 

Instead, Defendant Anderson’s attorneys produced the videos 14 months later—the 

weekend before the government sought the second superseding indictment in 

November 2021. It appears Defendant Anderson was withholding the material in 

clear violation of Rule 16(b), Local Rule 26.2, and the Court’s scheduling order to  
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with the ECS schemes, which are not entirely accurate.   

  

exclude unfavorable evidence. See, e.g., Cameli v. O'Neal, No. 95 C 1369, 

1997 WL 862988, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 29, 1997) (explaining that a court 

does not weigh facts and assess credibility on a motion in limine). Nor 

does Defendant Anderson’s paper cite any authority for such a  

proposition.   

  Defendant Anderson’s argument would have the Court turn a  

“blind eye” to the following evidence: (1) Michael White’s account that 

Defendant Anderson asked him to clean up the easement and that she 

needed someone to clean up the rest of her property; (2) Mickey White 

and Josh Anderson’s account of how Defendant Anderson’s husband  

  
produce it in September 2020 to gain some perceived advantage through 

nondisclosure until it was deemed advantageous to disclose it just before the grand 

jury in November 2021. Given Defendant Anderson’s rigid insistence on timely 

government disclosures under those rules and orders, and her vigorous argument, 

beginning in December 2021 (shortly after her untimely November 2021 discovery 

disclosures), that she was entitled to dispositive relief through claims the government 

had not timely complied with prior disclosures in September 2020, April 2021, July 

2021, and November 2021 (e.g., ECF 236, ECF 241, ECF 273, ECF 340, & ECF 418), 

the government does not know why Defendant Anderson thinks those very same 

discovery rules and court orders do not apply to her, and she can instead make 

disclosures, “if, when, and how [she] deems appropriate.” Cf. ECF 236 at 7. Perhaps 

she could explain her apparently inconsistent position and show cause why the 

sanction of exclusion of those videos should not be imposed for her clear violation of 

the discovery rules and court orders. Unlike Defendants’ requests for alternative 

relief, that sanction actually fits an infraction. But the government has not asked for, 

and does not ask for, that sanction. Instead, the government intends to ask the Court 

to exclude whatever other Rule 16 evidence Defendants may be withholding in 
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violation of Rule 16(b), local rule, and Court order, and notes that Defendant Finch 

has never produced anything in discovery.   

  

asked them to work on three separate properties; (3) Josh Anderson’s 

account of how the properties looked before and after ECS worked there; 

and (4) satellite imagery of the properties after the hurricane showing 

downed trees on the three properties outside of the easement.14  

IX  

 Defendant Anderson complains about the former case agent’s testimony 

before prior grand juries regarding her travel with Defendant Finch. It is 

an attempt to limit the presentation of evidence and argument regarding 

a City contractor hosting the Mayor and her husband on his private jet, 

yacht, and compensatory rooms at a casino because the Mayor and her 

husband at times withdrew cash and spent their own money on the trips. 

Defendant Anderson says the Court should “exclude the Government 

from presenting evidence and argument of the alleged travel bribe”; that 

is, that “[t]he travel evidence may be admissible to demonstrate a close 

relationship between Anderson and Finch but not as alleged bribes.” ECF 

 
14 The government intends to address the admissibility of ECS-related evidence in 

more detail in its motion in limine due by January 6, 2023.   
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418 at 3. The government reads that to mean that the evidence can be 

presented but can only be characterized to support  

  
Defendants’ narrative. There is no legal principle that precludes the 

government from calling something a bribe just because a defendant 

asserts, through counsel, that it is not.   

 The third superseding indictment alleges that Defendant Finch provided 

Defendant Anderson with travel on the jet and lodging on the yacht and 

casino. ECF 355 ¶¶7,12c. It does not allege that the travel is an 

independent violation of §666. There is no basis to exclude evidence of the 

travel, such as it is, as intrinsic to the charged offenses or to show intent 

under Rule 404(b) simply because Defendant Anderson says the former 

case agent overstated it to earlier grand juries.   

 On August 18, 2020, the retired former case agent testified and (1) 

described the yacht and its location, and the jet and its movement(s); (2) 

said that he located charges on the Andersons’ credit cards in the 

destinations showing they were there and paid for things, e.g., “you were 

also able to see large meals maybe in the evening or something like that”; 

(3) said that the Andersons were not paying for lodging; and (4) said that 
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he was not able to locate large cash withdrawals from their accounts just 

prior to their travel. MDA 2 at 2-10. On November 16, 2021, the former 

case agent testified again that there was a lack of airfare purchased by 

the Andersons, and while there was “an occasional meal or dinner meal 

or something like that purchased by the Andersons,” there “was a lack of 

associated expenses while Mr. Finch had all the customary expenses you 

would see traveling to those locations, hotel rooms, multiple meals, 

entertainment expenses and so forth.” MDA 3 at 5-10.   

 Defendant Anderson presented MDA Exhibits 4 and 22 on the morning 

of the December 12, 2022, hearing. MDA Exhibit 4 concerned an 

incomplete “summary” of financial records pertaining to the Andersons’ 

travel with Defendant Finch. Defendant Anderson’s counsel asserted at 

the hearing that they “will prove that [the retired former case agent’s 

grand jury testimony] was . . . knowing untruthful testimony.” ECF 407  

at 4.  

 As the Supreme Court explained, and as this Court recognized at the 

hearing, “[a] complaint about the quality or adequacy of the evidence can 

always be recast as a complaint that the prosecutor’s presentation was 

‘incomplete’ or ‘misleading.’” United States v. Williams, 504 U.S. 36, 54 
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(1992)). And defense counsel’s prosecution of the former case agent’s 

testimony at the hearing, which was rather misleading regarding the two 

largest cash withdrawals, illustrates the point.   

 Concerning the first noted trip, in December 2015, there were cash 

withdrawals prior to it and meal expenses paid. But there does not 

appear to be any airfare or lodging expenses. A reasonable interpretation 

of the evidence, therefore, is that the Andersons traveled on Mr. Finch’s 

private jet to the Keys for Christmas, paid for some of their own meals, 

and stayed on his yacht, the “M.V. Lucky Dog”—which is consistent with 

the former case agent’s testimony before prior grand juries.15   

 Concerning the second noted trip, on May 25, 2016, Defendant Anderson 

says she was not there. Based on the documentary evidence presented, a 

reasonable interpretation of the evidence is that Defendant  

Anderson’s spouse traveled on Defendant Finch’s plane and stayed on 

Defendant Finch’s yacht, and withdrew some cash beforehand.  

 Concerning the third noted trip, on July 22, 2017, there were no noted 

cash withdrawals prior to it and there were meal expenses paid. However, 

there does not appear to be any airfare or lodging expenses for that trip. 

 
15 The former case agent did not say there were no cash withdrawals.  
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This again suggests that the Andersons traveled on Defendant Finch’s 

private jet to the Keys, paid for two of their own meals, and stayed  

  
on Defendant Finch’s yacht—which is consistent with the former case 

agent’s testimony before prior grand juries.  

 Concerning the fourth noted trip, on October 26, 2017, there were no 

noted cash withdrawals prior to it and there were meal expenses paid. 

However, there does not appear to be any associated airfare or lodging 

expenses. This again suggests that the Andersons traveled on Defendant 

Finch’s private jet to the Keys, paid for two of their own meals, and stayed 

on Defendant Finch’s yacht—which is consistent with the former case 

agent’s testimony before prior grand juries.  

 Concerning the fifth noted trip, on August 22, 2018, there were meal 

expenses paid; there again does not appear to be any airfare or lodging 

expenses. This again suggests that the Andersons traveled on Defendant 

Finch’s private jet to the Keys, paid for two of their own meals, and stayed 

on Defendant Finch’s yacht—consistent with former case agent’s 

testimony.   
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 Defense counsel highlighted a $3,000 cash withdrawal on August 1, 

2018, noted in MDA Exhibit 16, and suggested it was proof that the 

former case agent lied to the grand jury. But defense counsel omitted the 

fact that after the $3,000 cash withdrawal on August 1, 2018, the 

Andersons traveled to North Dakota (on or about August 5, 2018), and 

then to Oregon and California before returning to Lynn Haven by on or 

about August 19, 2018, (as evidenced by Defendant Anderson’s own 

exhibit, MDA 17 at 2-3) before traveling on Defendant Finch’s private jet 

to Key West on August 22, 2018—consistent with the former case agent’s 

testimony before prior grand juries.  

 Concerning the sixth noted trip, listed on Grand Jury Exhibit 57 and 

MDA Exhibit 4 at 3 as occurring on March 26, 2019, Defendant Anderson 

says she was not there because of credit card charges on her business 

account in Port St. Joe, Florida, on March 26. A review of the aircraft’s 

flight logs shows, however, that Defendant Finch’s private jet flew from 

Panama City to Key West of March 29, 2019, and returned on March 31, 

2019. There were two cash withdrawals. But there does not appear to be 

airfare expenses, and there was a lodging expense, apparently because 

Defendant Finch’s yacht was unavailable at that time.  It thus appears 
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the timeline was inaccurate, but not in a way that favors Defendant 

Anderson.   

 Defendant Anderson then turns to trips to the Beau Rivage casino in 

Biloxi, Mississippi. MDA Exh. 22. It does not appear the Andersons ever 

paid for airfare, car service, or lodging. There are cash withdrawals noted 

for two of four trips. For trips without noted cash withdrawals, the 

summary notes significant cash buy ins at the casino.   

 Regarding the July 28, 2018, trip, defense counsel highlights a $6,800 

cash withdrawal on July 17, 2018, by Lee Anderson. 16  But defense 

counsel omitted that it was deposited (that same day) back into Lee  

Anderson’s Navy Federal Credit Union (NFCU) account ending *2567 on 

July 17, 2018. A review of financial records shows that money was used 

to fund the purchase of a Harley Davidson motorcycle and was not 

available to use, and was not used, for travel expenses or for gambling as 

 
16 Defense counsel’s exhibit summary associated the $6,800 withdrawn on July 17, 

2018,  with a trip to Biloxi. The argument concerned the possibility that this, and 

$3,000 on August 1, 2018, before a cross country trip, might be monies paid towards 

the purported $70,000 purchase price of the motorhome. ECF 407 at 28-29. Recall, 

however, that the bill of sale Mr. Finch gave the FBI said that $35,000 had been paid 

by July 8, 2018. There is no record of that. The $6,800 went for a motorcycle. The 

$3,000 appears to have gone for the cross-country trip. The Andersons did not pay for 

the motorhome until they realized Defendants were under investigation regarding 

their relationship. And Defendant Finch (allegedly) lied to the FBI about it.   
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suggested by defense counsel. Notably, Defendant Anderson included the 

bank statement showing the July 17 withdrawal of $6,800 from the  

SunTrust account (MDA Exh. 37) and the NFCU statement showing a  

$503 cash withdrawal from NFCU on July 30 (MDA Exh. 39), but did not  

  
include the previous NFCU statement which showed the $6,800 deposit 

on July 17:   

  

 Defendant Anderson cites United States v. Marshank, 777 F. Supp. 1507 

(N.D. Cal. 1991), for the proposition that “misconduct associated with one 

indictment is not per se ‘cured’ by securing a second indictment 

disassociated with the misconduct.” ECF 418 at 1. That case concerned 

allegations that the government enlisted a defense attorney to aid in the 

investigation of his client. 777 F. Supp. at 1510-1511. It has no  

applicability to the facts of this case.   

 The government previously cited case law applicable to this context for 

the opposite proposition. See United States v. Riley, 643 F. App’x 291, 293 
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(4th Cir. 2016) (unpublished) (holding that the government's superseding 

indictment was obtained free from earlier errors made in the grand jury 

proceedings leading to the original indictment, so that the defendant was 

not prejudiced, and dismissal was not appropriate); United  

States v. Indivior Inc., 2019 WL 6039969, *3 (W.D. Va. Nov. 14, 2019) 

(explaining that “the government took steps to cure any potential defect 

in the original Indictment by obtaining the Superseding Indictment [and 

Second Superseding Indictment before an entirely new grand jury] . . . to 

ensure that the defendants have not been prejudiced”); United States v.  

Vigil, 2006 WL 8445505, *4 (D. N. Mex. Mar. 20, 2006) (explaining that 

“[d]efendant argues that, in light of the prior dismissal of two counts of 

the Second Superseding Indictment, there is a real possibility that the 

Third Superseding Indictment also is deficient. However, any motion to 

dismiss the Third Superseding Indictment will evaluate the facial 

validity of the indictment, and [d]efendant’s argument does not met the 

standard of ‘particularized need’ sufficient to outweigh the need for 

secrecy in the grand jury process.”).  
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CONCLUSION  

 The Court should deny the primary and alternative relief requested by 

Defendants.   
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